DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 472 590 IR 058 546

AUTHOR Nussbaum, Ruth, Comp.; Strauss, Carol, Comp.

TITLE Library and Information Services to Individuals with

Disabilities. Reference Bibliography.

INSTITUTION Library of Congress, Washington, DC. National Library Service

for the Blind and Physically Handicapped.

REPORT NO No-02-01 PUB DATE 2002-00-00

NOTE 30p.

AVAILABLE FROM Reference Section, National Library Service for the Blind and

Physically Handicapped, Library of Congress, Washington, DC

20542. For full text:

http://www.loc.gov/nls/reference/bibliographies/

library.html.

PUB TYPE Reference Materials - Bibliographies (131)

EDRS PRICE EDRS Price MF01/PC02 Plus Postage.

DESCRIPTORS Bibliographies; Blindness; Disabilities; Information

Services; *Information Sources; Library Materials; *Library

Services; Nonprint Media; Printed Materials; Visual

Impairments

IDENTIFIERS *National Library Service for the Blind

ABSTRACT

This bibliography lists selective sources of information on providing library services for adults and children with disabilities. Its emphasis is on visual or physical disabilities that prevent reading or using standard printed materials. The selections, based on the holdings of the Reference Section, National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped, were chosen for currency and authoritativeness. With the exception of a few classics in the field, most titles are in print and were published between 1998 and June 2002. Selected print materials include: general; library users with special needs (children, older adults, individuals with hearing impairments, individuals with learning disabilities, and individuals with visual impairments); disability awareness and training; academic libraries; Americans with Disabilities Act and universal access; adaptive technologies; digital talking books; and electronic books. Selected videos and selected Internet resources follow. (AEF)





Library and Information Services to Individuals with Disabilities

National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped

The Library of Congress

Washington, DC 20542

www.loc.gov/nls

Date

ED 472 590

2002

No. 02-01

This bibliography lists selective sources of information on providing library services for adults and children with disabilities. Its emphasis is on visual or physical disabilities that prevent reading or using standard printed materials. The selections, based on the holdings of the Reference Section, National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped, were chosen for currency and authoritativeness. With the exception of a few classics in the field, most titles are in print and were published between 1998 and June 2002.

Indexes such as Library Literature, Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC), and Library and Information Science Abstracts (LISA) should be consulted for historical treatment of the subject or for material on local or regional services.

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION Office of Educational Research and Improvement EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)

- This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it.
- Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality.
- Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy.

Contents

Selected Print Materials	
General	3
Library Users with Special Needs	
Children	6
Older Adults	7
Individuals with Hearing Impairments	8
Individuals with Learning Disabilities	9
Individuals with Visual Impairments	
Disability Awareness and Training	3
Academic Libraries	3
Americans with Disabilities Act and Universal Access 1	5
Adaptive Technologies	6
Digital Talking Books	9
Electronic Books	
Selected Videos	
Selected Internet Resources	5



Selected Print Materials

General

American Foundation for the Blind. Directory of services for blind and visually impaired persons in the United States and Canada. 26th ed. New York: 2001. 823p. \$99. (AFB Press, Customer Service, P.O. Box 1020, Sewickley, PA 15143). Also available by online subscription at < www.afb.org/services.asp>.

American Library Association. Library services for people with disabilities policy. Retrieved May 7, 2002. www.ala.org/ascla/access_policy.html>.

American Printing House for the Blind. Catalog of accessible books for people who are visually impaired or blind 2000-2001. Louisville, KY: 2000. 470p. Also online at www.aph.org/louis.htm.

Cylke, Frank Kurt, Judith M. Dixon, and Michael M. Moodie. The National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped, Library of Congress. Alexandria, v. 12, no. 2, 2000: 81-98.

Disability resources monthly. Monthly. \$33/year. Disability Resources, Inc., Four Glatter Lane, Centereach, NY 11720-1032. Available in standard print and on audio cassette.

Dunlap, Bob L. Library accessibility and service: [a bibliography]. Retrieved May 10, 2002. https://www.earthlink.net/ bldunlap2/disabilities/lib access.html > .

Interface. Quarterly. \$10 of membership dues for subscription, \$20 nonmembers. Association of Specialized and Cooperative Library Agencies, American Library Association, 50 East Huron Street, Chicago, IL 60611.



3

- Klauber, Julie. Living well with a disability: how libraries can help. American libraries, v. 29, Nov. 1998: 52-55.
- Library of Congress. National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped. That all may read: library service for blind and physically handicapped people. Washington: 1983. 518p. Free.
- Library of Congress. National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped. Reference Section. Building a library collection on visual and physical disabilities: basic materials and resources. Washington: 1999. Compiled by Carol Strauss. 45p. Free. Also online at <ftp.loc.gov/pub/nls/reference/circulars/building.library>.
- Library of Congress. National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped. Reference Section. Library resources for the blind and physically handicapped. A directory for FY 1999 statistics on readership, circulation, budget, staff, and collections. Washington: 2000. 81p. Free. Also online at < www.loc.gov/nls/reference/directories/resources2000.html > .
- Library of Congress. National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped. Reference Section. Magazines in special media. Washington: 2000. 72p. Free. Also online at <ftp.loc.gov/pub/nls/reference/directories/magazines.txt>.
- Library of Congress. National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped. Reference Section. Sources of custom-produced books: braille, audio recordings, and large print. Compiled by Freddie Peaco. Washington: 2001. 103p. Free. Also online at
 - < ftp.loc.gov/pub/nls/reference/directories/custombooks.txt>...



- Library Reproduction Service. Large print catalog. Los Angeles: 2001. Section 1, p. 1-112, and section 2, p. 1-42. Also online at www.lrs-largeprint.com.
- Majeska, Marilyn Lundell. Talking books: pioneering and beyond. Washington: Library of Congress, National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped, 1988. 108p. Free.
- News. Quarterly. Free. Library of Congress, National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped, Washington, DC 20542. Also available online at <ftp.loc.gov/pub/nls/newsletters>.
- Noble, Steve. Accessible text formats: from RFB&D to in-house production. In Accessible libraries on campus: a practical guide for the creation of disability-friendly libraries. Edited by Tom McNulty. Chicago: Association of College and Research Libraries, American Library Association, 1999. p. 49-62.
- Nomura, Misako, and Mayu Yamada, eds. International directory of libraries for the blind. 4th ed. IFLA Publications, no. 90. München: K.G. Saur, 2000. 252p. Also online at www.dinf.ne.jp/doc/english/index e.html>.
- Resources for librarians with disabilities. Retrieved May 14, 2002. www.geocities.com/WestHollywood/Heights/4717/dislib.html.
- Revised standards and guidelines of service for the Library of Congress network of libraries for the blind and physically handicapped. Chicago: Association of Specialized and Cooperative Library Agencies, American Library Association, 1995. 48p.
- Rubin, Rhea Joyce. Planning for library services to people with disabilities. Chicago: Association of Specialized and Cooperative Library Agencies, American Library Association, 2001. 108p. \$30. (ASCLA Changing Horizons series no. 5).



- Sager, Don. No barriers to service: librarians with disabilities. Public libraries, v. 37, Mar.-Apr. 1998: 109-115.
- U.S. National Commission on Libraries and Information Science. Library and information services for individuals with disabilities: an NCLIS hearing in Washington, DC, July 8, 1999. Washington: 2000. 312p. Free. (NCLIS hearing 1999-1). (1110 Vermont Avenue NW, Suite 820, 20005-3552).

Universal access: electronic resources in libraries. Retrieved May 10, 2002. < www.washington.edu/doit/UA > .

Library Users with Special Needs

Children

- Bayha, Betsy. The Internet: an inclusive magnet for teaching all students. Oakland, CA: World Institute on Disability, 1998. 21p. (510 Sixteenth Street, Suite 100, 94612). Also online at www.wid.org/pages/publications.htm.
- Children and youth: are libraries for the blind meeting their education needs? <u>In</u> Digital libraries for the blind and the culture of learning in the information age: conference proceedings, session A. IFLA Pre-Conference for the Section of Libraries for the Blind, Washington, DC, 2001. [30]p.
- Feinberg, Sandra, and others. Including families of children with special needs: a how-to-do-it manual for librarians. New York, NY: Neal-Schuman, 1999. 208p. \$45.
- Library of Congress. National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped. Reference Section. Focus on children: story hour at the public library: ideas for including visually impaired preschoolers. Washington: 1988. 2p. Free.



Murray, Janet. An inclusive school library for the 21st century: fostering independence. 65th IFLA Council and General Conference proceedings, Bangkok, Thailand, 1999. Retrieved May 21, 2002. www.ifla.org/IV/ifla65/papers/076-119e.htm.

Pittman, Susan Heckler. Adapting the program for children with disabilities. Retrieved May 16, 2002. < winslo.state.oh.us/services/LPD/orpadapt.html > .

Older Adults

American Library Association. Reference and User Services
Association. Library Service to Aging Population Committee of the
Management and Operation of User Services Section. Library
services to older adults guidelines, revised 1999. Reference and
user services quarterly, v. 39, fall 1999: 25-27.

Canadian Library Association. Interest Group on Services for Older People. Canadian guidelines on library and information services for older adults. Retrieved May 20, 2002.

< www.cla.ca/resources/olderadults.htm > .

Focus: library service to older adults, persons with disabilities. Monthly. \$18/year. Indiana University, Indiana Institute on Disability and Community, Center for Disability Information and Referral, 2853 East Tenth Street, Bloomington, IN 47408-2696. Available in alternative formats on request.

International Federation of Library Associations and Institutions. Section of Libraries Serving Disadvantaged Persons. Guidelines for libraries serving hospital patients and the elderly and disabled in long-term care facilities. The Hague: 2000. (IFLA professional report no. 61).



7

- Kleiman, Allan M. Global greying: successful strategies for bridging information gaps with the elderly population. 63rd IFLA General Conference proceedings, Copenhagen, Denmark, 1997. Retrieved Mar. 21, 2002. www.ifla.org/IV/ifla63/63klea.htm.
- Van Fleet, Connie. Public libraries, lifelong learning, and older adults: background and recommendations. Retrieved May 21, 2002. < www.ed.gov/pubs/PLLIConf95/vanfleet.html > .
- Walling, Linda Lucas, comp. Library services to the sandwich generation and serial caregivers. Chicago: Association of Specialized and Cooperative Library Agencies, American Library Association, 2001. 56p. \$20. (ASCLA Changing Horizons series no. 4).

Individuals with Hearing Impairments

- American Library Association. Association of Specialized and Cooperative Library Agencies Division. Guidelines for library and information services for the American deaf community. Retrieved May 5, 2002. www.ala.org/ascla/lssps/guidelinesweb.html>.
- Baquis, David. Accessibility of library and information services for hard of hearing people. Library hi tech news, v. 17, no. 8, 2000: 36-38.
- Beck, Susan Gilbert. Services for patrons with hearing loss or deafness: new technologies/new attitudes. <u>In</u> Accessible libraries on campus: a practical guide for the creation of disability-friendly libraries. Edited by Tom McNulty. Chicago: Association of College and Research Libraries, American Library Association, 1999. p. 79-110.
- Day, John Michael, ed. Guidelines for library services to deaf people. 2d ed. The Hague: International Federation of Library Associations and Institutions, 2000. (IFLA professional report no. 62).



Use of telecommunications products by people with disabilities. Retrieved May 16, 2002.

< www.washington.edu/doit/Brochures/Technology/telcom.html > .

Individuals with Learning Disabilities

Akin, Lynn K., and Erin O'Toole. The order of the public library and the disorder of attention deficit. Public library quarterly, v. 18, no. 3-4, 2000: 69-80.

Gorman, Audrey J. Roads to learning: final report, 1996-2001. Retrieved May 14, 2002. www.ala.org/ascla/rtl_final_report.html.

Gorman, Audrey J. Start making sense: libraries don't have to be confusing places for kids with reading disabilities. School library journal, v. 45, July 1999: 22-25.

Shank, Gail. The challenge of learning disabled patrons. Retrieved July 12, 2002. < www.ku.edu/~assoc/shank301.html>.

Working together: computers and people with learning disabilities. Retrieved May 16, 2002.

< www.washington.edu/doit/Brochures/Technology/atpwld.html > .

Individuals with Visual Impairments

Accessing the Internet. Retrieved May 15, 2002. www.afb.org/info_document_view.asp?documentid=222>.

Brazier, Helen, and Victoria Owen. Library provision for visually impaired in the UK and Canada: national services and international cooperation. Alexandria, v. 12, no. 2, 2000: 71-80.



- Charlson, Kim. Braille library services. <u>In</u> Braille: into the next millennium. Washington: National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped and Friends of Libraries for Blind and Physically Handicapped Individuals in North America, 2000. p. 236-255. Free.
- Chong, Curtis. Web accessibility: making your web site accessible to the blind. Retrieved May 6, 2002. www.nfb.org/tech/webacc.htm.
- Chong, Peggy. NFB NEWSLINE® goes nationwide on March 1, 2002. Braille monitor, v. 45, Jan.-Feb. 2002: 65-67. Also online at <www.nfb.org/bm/bm02/bm0201/bm020115.htm>.
- Creating accessible computer applications. Retrieved May 15, 2002. www.afb.org/info_document_view.asp?documentid=198.
- Dixon, Judith M. Creating a web for all: access for blind and visually impaired users. <u>In Accessible libraries on campus: a practical guide</u> for the creation of disability-friendly libraries. Edited by Tom McNulty. Chicago: Association of College and Research Libraries, American Library Association, 1999. p. 135-140.
- Dixon, Judith M. Web-Braille: a library of braille books on the Internet. Retrieved May 6, 2002. www.csun.edu/cod/conf2001/proceedings/0141dixon.html.
- Dixon, Judith M. Web-Braille: a new distribution system for braille books. Braille monitor, v. 43, Jan. 2000: 75-79. Also online at www.nfb.org/bm/bm00/bm0001/bm000113.htm.



- Griebel, Rosemary. Partnering services between public libraries and library services for the blind: a Canadian experience. 66th IFLA Council and General Conference proceedings, Jerusalem, Israel, 2000. Retrieved Mar. 23, 2001.
 - < www.ifla.org/IV/ifla66/papers/025-158e.htm > .
- Hattery, Maxine. Making the web blind-user friendly: home page reader and authoring guidelines. Information retrieval and library automation, v. 34, Mar. 1999: 1-3.
- International Federation of Library Associations and Institutions.

 Digital libraries for the blind and the culture of learning in the information age: conference proceedings. IFLA Pre-Conference for the Section of Libraries for the Blind, Washington, DC, 2001.

 1 v. (various pagings).
- International Federation of Library Associations and Institutions.

 Section of Libraries for the Blind. Guidelines for library service to braille users. Retrieved May 14, 2002.

 <www.ifla.org/VII/s31/pub/guide.htm>.
- Iowa Program for Assistive Technology and Iowa Department for the Blind. Designing accessible web sites: creating sites that are accessible to people with disabilities. Retrieved May 14, 2002. www.uiowa.edu/infotech/WebAccess.htm.
- Johnson, David. Web-Braille: NLS braille books online. Library hi tech news, v. 17, no. 6, 2000: 13-15.
- Kavanagh, Rosemary. Transforming libraries for the blind in the learning culture of the information age: the role of IFLA and the World Blind Union (WBU). IFLA journal, v. 27, no. 1, 2001: 38-40.



- Leibs, Andrew. A field guide for the sight-impaired reader: a comprehensive resource for students, teachers, and librarians. Westport, CT: Greenwood Press, 1999. 247p.
- Lescher, John. Designing web sites for the blind. EContent, Apr. 2000. < www. findarticles.com/cf_0/m0BLB/2_23/61298111/print.jhtml > .
- Library of Congress. National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped. Facts: Web-Braille. Washington: 2001. 2p. Free. Also online at www.loc.gov/nls/reference/factsheets/webbraille.html.
- Nail-Chiwetalu, Barbara. Guidelines for accessing alternative format educational materials. May 1, 1999. 12p. Available free from the National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped, Reference Section, and online at www.loc.gov/nls/other/guidelines.html.
- Shumila, Dena, and Jan Richards. Increasing access to World Wide Web sites for blind and visually impaired computer users.

 Retrieved May 5, 2002.

 <www.utoronto.ca/atrc/rd/library/papers/accessWWW.html>.
- Smaligo, Mary A. Resources for helping blind music students. Music educators journal, v. 85, Sept. 1998: 23-27.
- Suvino, Dawn M., and Janice O'Connor. Access systems for blind and partially sighted PC users. <u>In Accessible libraries on campus:</u> a practical guide for the creation of disability-friendly libraries. Edited by Tom McNulty. Chicago: Association of College and Research Libraries, American Library Association, 1999. p. 63-77.



Disability Awareness and Training

- Access and opportunities: a guide to disability awareness. Retrieved July 12, 2002. www.vsarts.org/bestpractices/dag/index.html.
- Breedlove, Elizabeth. Equal access to information: libraries serving people with disabilities. Retrieved July 12, 2002. www2.njstatelib.org/njlib/dsequal.htm.
- Cohen, Judy. Disability etiquette. Jackson Heights, NY: Eastern Paralyzed Veterans Association, [n.d.]. 51p. Also online at www.epva.org/Videos_Publications/publication_database.asp.
- Deines-Jones, Courtney. Training professional and support staff members. <u>In Accessible libraries on campus: a practical guide for the creation of disability-friendly libraries.</u> Edited by Tom McNulty. Chicago: Association of College and Research Libraries, American Library Association, 1999. p. 147-161.
- Papangelis, Penelope. Sensitivity training in academic library public services. Retrieved July 12, 2002. www.arl.org/diversity/leading/issue12/papangelis.html.

Academic Libraries

- Applin, Mary Beth. Instructional services for students with disabilities. Journal of academic librarianship, v. 25, Mar. 1999: 139-141.
- Candido, GraceAnne A. Issues and innovations in service to users with disabilities. SPEC kit 243: Transforming libraries issue 8. Washington: Association of Research Libraries, 1999. 31p. \$28. (ARL Publications Distribution Center, P.O. Box 531, Annapolis, MD 20701-0531). Also online at www.arl.org/transform/disabilities/index.html.



- Dick, Marcia A., and Dorothy E. Jones. Hiring students with disabilities in the academic library. Illinois libraries, v. 81, spring 1999: 83-87.
- Gadbow, Nancy F., and David A. Du Bois. Adult learners with special needs: strategies and resources for postsecondary education and workplace training. Malabar, FL: Krieger Publishing Company, 1998. (Professional practices in adult education and human resource development series).
- Kumar, Sangeeta. Assistive technology for a community college library. Illinois libraries, v. 81, spring 1999: 88-93.
- Rowland, Cyndi. Accessibility of the Internet in postsecondary education: meeting the challenge. Universal Web Accessibility Symposium 2000. Retrieved July 11, 2001. www.webaim.org/articles/whitepaper>.
- Schmetzke, Axel. Online distance education: "anytime, anywhere," but not for everyone. Retrieved May 20, 2002. www.rit.edu/~easi/itd/itdv07n2/axel.htm.
- Schmetzke, Axel. Web accessibility at university libraries and library schools. Library hi tech, v. 19, no. 1, 2001: 35-49.
- Working together: faculty and students with disabilities <u>and</u> Working together: students with disabilities and teaching assistants. Retrieved May 16, 2002.
 - < www.washington.edu/doit/Brochures/Academics/>.



Americans with Disabilities Act and Universal Access

- Beck, Susan Gilbert. Wayfinding in libraries: the importance of universal appeal and universal access. <u>In Accessible libraries on campus: a practical guide for the creation of disability-friendly libraries</u>. Edited by Tom McNulty. Chicago: Association of College and Research Libraries, American Library Association, 1999. p. 19-47.
- Breckbill, Anita, and Paul Orkiszewski. Library facilities planning: a bibliography. Retrieved Mar. 10, 2002. < www. musiclibraryassoc.org/committee/co_fac_bibliography.htm > .
- Hutchinson, Nancy G. Beyond ADA compliance: redefining accessibility. American libraries, v. 32, June-July 2001: 76-78.
- Joffee, Elga. A practical guide to the ADA and visual impairment. New York, NY: AFB Press, 1999. 180p. \$39.95
- Making library resources accessible to people with disabilities.

 Retrieved May 16, 2002.

 < www.washington.edu/doit/Brochures/Technology/libsrv.html > .
- Marshall, Scott. Of consuming interest: a guide to titles II and III of the ADA for people with vision loss. Retrieved May 15, 2002. www.afb.org/info_document_view.asp?documentid=525.
- Outline of major revisions to Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines. Retrieved May 15, 2002. www.afb.org/info_document_view.asp?documentid=429.



Adaptive Technologies

- Alliance for Technology Access. Computer and web resources for people with disabilities. 3rd ed. rev. San Rafael, CA: 2000. 336p. \$20.95 (paperback), \$27.95 (spiral-bound book or CD). (2175 East Francisco Boulevard, Suite L, 94901).
- Balas, Janet L. Online resources for adaptive information technologies. Computers in libraries, v. 19, June 1999: 38-40.
- Bowen, Johanna. Resources list for accessible libraries. Retrieved May 7, 2002. kibwww.cabrillo.cc.ca.us/html/about/caped98resources.html>.
- Brewer, Judy, ed. How people with disabilities use the web. W3C working draft, Jan. 4, 2001. Retrieved May 10, 2002. www.w3.org/WAI/EO/Drafts/PWD-Use-Web/20010104.html>...
- Cannon, Pat. Access to electronic and information technology: evolving federal standards for nonvisual use. Braille monitor, v. 43, Jan. 2000: 51-55. Also online at www.nfb.org/bm/bm00/bm0001/bm0001tc.htm.
- Casey, Carol. Accessibility in the virtual library: creating equal opportunity web sites. Information technology and libraries, v. 18, Mar. 1999: 22-25.
- Christensen, Susie. How we work to make the Web speak. Computers in libraries, v. 21, Oct. 2001: 30-34.
- Closing the Gap. Resource directory: a guide to the latest computer-related products for children and adults with special needs. Closing the Gap, v. 20, Feb.-Mar. 2002: 1-180 (entire issue). Also online at <www.closingthegap.net/ctg/ctgpro/resourcedirectory/index.html>.



- Designing more usable web sites. Retrieved May 10, 2002. www.trace.wisc.edu/world/web.
- Federal policy barriers to assistive technology. Washington: National Council on Disability, 2000. 43p. Free. (1331 F Street NW, Suite 1050, DC 20004). Also available in alternative formats and online at
 - < www.ncd.gov/newsroom/publications/assisttechnology.html > .
- Guenther, Kim. Making your digital library accessible. Computers in libraries, v. 21, Oct. 2001: 61-63.
- Heim, Judy. Locking out the disabled. Retrieved May 10, 2002. www.pcworld.com/features/article/0,aid,17690,00.asp.
- Kautzman, Amy M. Virtuous, virtual access: making web pages accessible to people with disabilities. Searcher, v. 6, June 1998: 42-49.
- Kirkpatrick, Cheryl H., and Catherine Buck Morgan. How we renovated our library, physically and electronically, for handicapped patrons. Computers in libraries, v. 21, Oct. 2001: 24-29.
- Library of Congress. National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped. Reference Section. Assistive devices for use with personal computers. Washington: 2001. Compiled by Carol Strauss. 34p. Free. Also online at www.loc.gov/nls/reference/circulars/assistive2001.html.
- Lisiecki, Christine. Adaptive technology equipment for the library. Computers in libraries, v. 19, June 1999: 18-20, 22.
- Making educational software accessible: design guidelines including math and science solutions. Retrieved July 11, 2001. <ncam.wgbh.org/cdrom/guideline/>.



· ·

- Mates, Barbara T. Accessibility guidelines for electronic resources: making the Internet accessible for people with disabilities. Library technology reports, v. 37, July-Aug. 2001: 1-81 (entire issue).
- Mates, Barbara T. Adaptive technology for the Internet: making electronic resources accessible to all. Chicago, IL: American Library Association, 2000. 191p. \$36. (ALA Order Fulfillment, 155 North Wacker Drive, 60606). Also online at www.ala.org/editions/samplers/mates/>.
- McKenzie, Elizabeth M., and Kathleen E. Casey. Using adaptive technology to provide access to blind, low-vision, and dyslexic patrons. Law library journal, v. 90, spring 1998: 157-182.
- Paciello, Michael G. Web accessibility for people with disabilities. Lawrence, KS: CMP Books, 2000. 392p.
- Rouse, Veronica. Making the web accessible. Computers in libraries, v. 19, June 1999: 48-50, 52-53.
- Schuyler, Michael. Adapting for impaired patrons. Computers in libraries, v. 19, June 1999: 24, 26, 28-29.
- Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act: electronic and information technology accessibility standards. Retrieved July 11, 2001. www.access-board.gov/508.htm.
- Section 508 resources. Retrieved May 10, 2002. kww.iglou.com/katsnet/section%20508.html.
- United States. Department of Justice. Section 508 home page. Retrieved May 10, 2002.
 - < www.usdoj.gov/crt/508/508home.html>.



- Vaccarella, Bonnie. Finding our way through the maze of adaptive technology. Computers in libraries, v. 21, Oct. 2001: 44-47.
- Wlodkowski, Tom. Making CD-ROM's multimedia work for all users. Computers in libraries, v. 19, June 1999: 62-64, 66.

Digital Talking Books

- American National Standards Institute. National Information Standards Organization. Specifications for the digital talking book. ANSI/NISO Z39.86-2002. Retrieved May 7, 2002. www.niso.org/standards/resources/Z39-86-2002.html (NISO Press, 4733 Bethesda Avenue, Suite 300, Bethesda, MD 20814).
- Cookson, John, and Lloyd Rasmussen. National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped: digital plans and progress. Library hi tech, v. 19, no. 1, 2001: 15-18.
- Cookson, John, Michael Moodie, and Lloyd Rasmussen. Digital talking-book standards developed by NLS and partners under NISO auspices. Library hi tech, v. 19, no. 1, 2001: 19-24.
- Cookson, John, and others. Digital talking books: planning for the future. Washington: National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped, 1998. 72p. Free. Also online at < www.loc.gov/nls/technical/dtbindex.html > .
- Cookson, John, and others. Digital talking books: progress to date. Washington: National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped, 2002. 50p. Free. Also online at www.loc.gov/nls/technical/dtbprogress/index.html.



- Cylke, Frank Kurt. Our digital world. Address to the conventions of American Council of the Blind and National Federation of the Blind, July 2000. Retrieved May 7, 2002. Also online at www.loc.gov/nls/other/acbnfb2000.html.
- Cylke, Frank Kurt. We are nearly there, a digital odyssey. Address to the conventions of American Council of the Blind and National Federation of the Blind, July 2001. Retrieved May 7, 2002. www.loc.gov/nls/other/acbnfb2001.html.
- Kendrick, Deborah. George Kerscher: a pioneer in digital talking books still forging ahead. AccessWorld, v. 2, May 2001: 26, 28-34.
- Kerscher, George. DAISY Consortium: information technology for the world's blind and print-disabled population--past, present, and into the future. Library hi tech, v. 19, no. 1, 2001: 11-14.
- Kerscher, George. Implications of digital talking books and beyond. Braille monitor, v. 43, Jan. 2000: 80-86.
- Leventhal, Jay, and Richard Holborow. Who are the players: reviews of hardware and software digital talking book players.

 AccessWorld, v. 2, May 2001: 17-26.
- Library of Congress. National Library Service for the Blind and Physically Handicapped. Facts: Frequently asked questions: digital talking books. Washington: 2002. 4p. Free. Also online at www.loc.gov/nls/dtbraq.html.
- Noble, Steve. Using digital talking books in schools: RFB&D's top project. Library hi tech, v. 19, no. 1, 2001: 25-28.



- Recording for the Blind and Dyslexic. RFB&D's new AudioPlusTM digitally recorded textbooks: the future of learning through listeningTM. Retrieved May 16, 2002. www.rfbd.org/digitalaudio.htm.
- Sajka, Janina. A new look for the book: overview of digital talking book technology. AccessWorld, v. 2, May 2001: 5-16.

Electronic Books

- Balas, Janet L. Think like a patron when you consider buying e-books. Computers in libraries, v. 21, May 2001: 56-58.
- Brown, Gary J. Beyond print: reading digitally. Library hi tech, v. 19, no. 4, 2001: 390-399.
- Johnson, David. E-books, libraries, and access for the blind. Library hi tech news, v. 17, no. 4, 2000: 11-13.
- Reeder, Penny. Bookshare.org: a community for sharing and reading. Braille forum, v. 40, Feb. 2002: 17-25. Also online at www.acb.org/magazine/2002/bf022002.html.
- Sajka, Janina, and George Kerscher. Surpassing Gutenberg: access to published information for blind readers. An AFB white paper. Retrieved May 15, 2002. www.afb.org/info_document_view.asp?documentid=1224.
- Scialli, Peter M. Bookshare.org: books without barriers. Braille monitor, v. 44, Nov. 2001: 841-845. Also online at www.nfb.org/bm/bm01/bm0111/bm011110.htm.
- Terry, Ana Arias. E-book frenzy: an overview of issues, standards, and the industry. Information standards quarterly, v. 12, Oct. 2000: 1-7.



Selected Videos

- ...And access for all: ADA and your library. 1993. 47 minutes. \$130. Library Video Network, 320 York Road, Towson, MD 21204, 800-441-TAPE, < www.lvn.org/catalog.html > .
- Braille and raised large-print facility signs. 1993. 7 minutes. \$29.95. AFB Press, Customer Service, P.O. Box 1020, Sewickley, PA 15143-1020, 800-232-3044, <afbinfo@afb.net>, www.afb.org/store/>..
- Close encounters of the disabling kind. 1992. 22 minutes. \$99. Program Development Associates, P.O. Box 2038, Syracuse, NY 13220-2038, 800-543-2119, <info@pdassoc.com>, <www.pdassoc.com>.
- Differences make us stronger: diversity in the library. 1995. 40 minutes. \$130. Library Video Network.
- Discovering an untapped resource and Surprising answers. 1998. 12 minutes and 15 minutes. \$65. Program Development Associates.
- Empower: an introduction to assistive technology for the Navajo Nation. 1998. 12 minutes. \$25. Utah Assistive Technology Program, 6588 Old Main Hill, Logan, UT 84322-6588, (435) 797-3824, <u >uatp.usu.edu/index.html>.
- An equal voice [people who are deaf]. 1994. 8 minutes. \$25. Utah Assistive Technology Program.
- Finding gold: hiring the best and the brightest. 1998. 7 minutes. \$25. DO-IT, University of Washington, Box 355670, Seattle, WA 98195-5670, 888-972-3648, <doit@u.washington.edu>, <www.washington.edu/doit/>.



- How to communicate effectively with someone who has hearing loss. 1999. 28 minutes. \$89.95. Program Development Associates, P.O. Box 2038, Syracuse, NY 13220-2038, 800-543-2119, <info@pdassoc.com>, <www.pdassoc.com>.
- Internet basics. 1999. 60 minutes. \$19.95. Library Video Network, 320 York Road, Towson, MD 21204, 800-441-TAPE, < www.lvn.org/catalog.html > .
- No barriers for business: implementing the Americans with Disabilities Act. 1996. 22 minutes. \$95. Program Development Associates.
- People first: serving and employing people with disabilities. 1990. 40 minutes. \$130. Library Video Network.
- Project employ. 1999. 15 minutes. \$30. Job Accommodation Network, c/o Video Order, P.O. Box 6080, West Virginia University, Morgantown, WV 26506-6080, 800-526-7234, <jan@jan.icdi.wvu.edu>, <www.jan.wvu.edu/links/videos.html>.
- Reaching out: a creative access guide for designing exhibits and cultural programs for persons who are blind or visually impaired. 1997. 22 minutes. \$39.95. AFB Press, Customer Service, P.O. Box 1020, Sewickley, PA 15143-1020, 800-232-3044, <afbinfo@afb.net>, <www.afb.org/store/>.
- Senior solutions: assistive technology. 1998. 17 minutes. \$25. Utah Assistive Technology Program, 6588 Old Main Hill, Logan, UT 84322-6588, (435) 797-3824, <uatp.usu.edu/index.html>.
- The seven minute lesson [sighted-guide techniques for assisting people who are blind or visually impaired]. 1978. 7 minutes. \$29.95. AFB Press.



- Supervising an employee with a disability. 1998. 23 minutes. \$195. Program Development Associates, P.O. Box 2038, Syracuse, NY 13220-2038, 800-543-2119, <info@pdassoc.com>, <www.pdassoc.com>.
- Technology and self-advocacy: a bridge to independence. 1998. 11 minutes. \$59. Program Development Associates.
- The ten commandments of communicating with people with disabilities. 1994. 26 minutes. \$195. Program Development Associates.
- Understanding assistive technologies in the workplace. 2001. 20 minutes. \$32.50. Promote Awareness, 10155 Greenbrier Road, Suite 201, Minnetonka, MN 55305, <cohnm@juno.com>, <www.promoteawareness.com/video.htm>.
- Understanding the Americans with Disabilities Act: a four-part training course. 1996. \$65. Utah Assistive Technology Program, 6588 Old Main Hill, Logan, UT 84322-6588, (435) 797-3824, <u >uatp.usu.edu/index.html>.
- Videoguide to (dis)ability awareness. 1993. 25 minutes. \$195. Fanlight Productions, 4196 Washington Street, Suite 2, Boston, MA 02131, 800-937-4113, <fanlight@fanlight.com>, <www.fanlight.com>.
- What do you do when you see a blind person? 2000. 16 minutes. \$39.95. AFB Press, Customer Service, P.O. Box 1020, Sewickley, PA 15143-1020, 800-232-3044, <afbinfo@afb.net>, www.afb.org/store/>..

24

Without pity: a film about abilities. 1996. 52 minutes. \$129. Program Development Associates.



Working together: computers and people with learning disabilities. 2002. 10 minutes. \$25. DO-IT, University of Washington, Box 355670, Seattle, WA 98195-5670, 888-972-3648, <doit@u.washington.edu>, <www.washington.edu/doit/>.

Working together: computers and people with sensory impairments. 2001. 10 minutes. \$25. DO-IT.

Working together: people with disabilities and computer technology. 2000. 1614 minutes. \$25. DO-IT.

World wide access: accessible web design. 2002. 11 minutes. \$25. DO-IT.

Selected Internet Resources

Access to the Internet, Web, and Windows

www.nyise.org/access.htm

Includes links to accessible web design, Lynx web browser, Net-Tamer, Unix access, Windows access, Java accessibility, access resources, and blindness links.

Accessible Textbooks Clearinghouse

www.tsbvi.edu/textbooks/index.htm

Compiled by the Texas School for the Blind and Visually Impaired. Has links to accessible textbook initiatives, DAISY and digital talking books, web accessibility, braille bill information, and copyright information.

Accessible Web Page Design

www.makoa.org/web-design.htm
www.disabilityresources.org/WEB.html
www.washington.edu/doit/Resources/web-design.html
library.uwsp.edu/aschmetz/Accessible/pub_resources.htm
Provides resources to design accessible web pages.



Alliance for Technology Access (ATA)

www.ATAccess.org/

Has information on web-page design and on adaptive devices and software that enhance access to the World Wide Web for people with disabilities.

American Library Association. Association of Specialized and Cooperative Library Agencies (ASCLA)

www.ala.org/ascla/

Identifies the library interests and needs of persons with physical and mental disabilities and encourages the creation of services to meet these needs.

Association on Higher Education and Disability (AHEAD)

www.ahead.org/

Seeks full participation in higher education for persons with disabilities through training programs, publications, and conferences.

CAST (Center for Applied Special Technology)

www.cast.org/

Features projects developed by CAST's Universal Design for Learning (UDL); provides a link to Bobby, its HTML analyzer, that will check a web site's accessibility; and has links to educational software and web resources that support UDL concepts.

CCTV Information Page

www.tsbvi.edu/technology/cctv.htm

Compiled by the Texas School for the Blind and Visually Impaired. Presents basic and advanced features and types of CCTVs, links to manufacturers, information links, and questions for choosing CCTVs.

Center for Accessible Technology (CAT)

www.cforat.org/

Offers assistive technology articles and reviews of software and hardware in full text, information on adapting web browsers, and a listing of online disability resources.



26

Equal Access to Software and Information (EASI)

www.rit.edu/~easi/

Includes information on adaptive hardware and software resources, adaptive technology publications, library access resources, and EASI Educational Internet Captioning and Transcription Service.

Large print and speech access to the World Wide Web

www.tsbvi.edu/technology/web.htm

Compiled by the Texas School for the Blind and Visually Impaired. Includes links to basic concepts of the World Wide Web and browsers, modifying the browser with built-in options, and using a browser with add-on access.

Laurent Clerc National Deaf Education Center. Gallaudet University.

clerccenter.gallaudet.edu/

Has links to information about deafness, Shared Reading Project, technology and educational software reviews, and other resources.

Magnification Programs for the Computer Screen

www.afb.org/info_document_view.asp?documentid=1387 Compiled by the American Foundation for the Blind. Provides a description and sources of screen magnification programs.

Sources of Closed-Circuit Televisions

www.nfb.org/tech/cctvs1.htm

Compiled by the National Federation of the Blind. Lists companies that produce or distribute closed circuit televisions.

TIA Access

www.tiaonline.org/access/

Presents Marketing to Consumers with Disabilities and the Resource Guide for Accessible Design of Consumer Electronics.



Trace Research and Development Center

trace.wisc.edu/

Develops resources to make information technologies and telecommunication systems more accessible and usable by people with disabilities, including web links to designing more usable web sites.

Usability.gov

www.usability.gov/

Provides resources to design usable and accessible web sites and user interfaces, including usability testing and statistics on Internet usage.

Video Magnifiers

www.afb.org/info_document_view.asp?documentid=221
Compiled by the American Foundation for the Blind. Provides a description and sources of video magnifiers or closed-circuit television systems.

Web Accessibility in Mind (WebAIM)

www.webaim.org/

Seeks to improve accessibility to online learning opportunities for all people.

Web Accessibility Initiative (WAI) of the World Wide Web Consortium (W3C)

www.w3.org/WAI/

Has resources on web accessibility, including *User Agent Accessibility Guidelines 1.0* and a working draft (August 24, 2001) of *Web Content Accessibility Guidelines 2.0*.

Compiled by
Ruth Nussbaum
Carol Strauss
Reference Section
nlsref@loc.gov
June 2002



Additional copies of this bibliography or any of the reference bibliographies or circulars listed below are available free on request from the Reference Section.

Reference Bibliographies

Accessibility: A Selective Bibliography, 1994

Assistive Technology: A Selective Bibliography, 2000 Disability Awareness and Changing Attitudes, 1991

Library and Information Services to Individuals with Disabilities, 2002

Reference Circulars

Assistive Devices for Use with Personal Computers, 2001

Bibles and Other Sacred Writings in Special Media, 1999

Blindness and Visual Impairments: Information and Advocacy

Organizations, 2001

Braille Embossers, 2000

Braille Literacy: Resources for Instruction, Writing Equipment, and Supplies, 1994

Building a Library Collection on Visual and Physical Disabilities:

Basic Materials and Resources, 1999

Deaf-Blindness: National Organizations and Resources, 1993

Guide to Spoken-Word Recordings: Popular Literature, 1995

Learning Disabilities: Organizations and Resources, 1997

Magnifying Devices: A Resource Guide, 2002

Parents' Guide to the Development of Preschool Children with

Disabilities: Resources and Services, 1992

Physical Disabilities: National Organizations and Resources, 1994

Reading Materials in Large Print: A Resource Guide, 1997

Sources of Audiovisual Materials on Disabilities, 1995

Sources of Braille Reading Materials, 1996





U.S. Department of Education



Office of Educational Research and Improvement (OERI)
National Library of Education (NLE)
Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC)

NOTICE

Reproduction Basis

This document is covered by a signed "Reproduction Release (Blanke	t)"
form (on file within the ERIC system), encompassing all or classes	of
documents from its source organization and, therefore, does not require	e a
"Specific Document" Release form.	
	form (on file within the ERIC system), encompassing all or classes documents from its source organization and, therefore, does not require



